SPECIAL SESSION MINUTES
JUNE 25, 2025
BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
NEW HAVEN, CONNECTICUT
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND CONFERENCE CALL VIA ZOOM

PRESENT: Commissioners Darrell Brooks, Michael Lawlor, Tracey Meares,
Isaias Miranda, Evelise Ribeiro and Donald Walker

Chief Karl Jacobson: Department of Police Service

Assistant Chief Bertram Ettienne: Department of Police Service
Sergeant Paul Finch: Department of Police Service

Asia Johnson-Clark: Administrative Assistant

Michelle Duprey, Esquire: Deputy Corporation Counsel

Michael’s iPhone
Daniel Hunt

OPEN SESSION
The Special Session meeting of the Board of Police Commissioners was called to order at 6:03
p.m., Evelise Ribeiro, Chair, presided.

AGENDA
Approval of the Agenda for the Board of Police Commissioners

ok Commissioner Miranda moved to Approve the Agenda
ok Commissioner Walker seconded

B Commissioner Brooks asked if there was a need to remove the agenda items regarding
Officer Trevor Canace.

B Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that it was necessary to do so.

B Attorney Duprey indicated that the agenda could not be changed for a special meeting.

ok Motion passed unanimously
PERSONNEL MATTERS
1. Chief Karl Jacobson is requesting approval by the Board of Police

Commissioners to send up to 64 Conditional Offers of employment for the
position of Police Officer from the Eligibility List 22-68CR 06-25-2025

B Chief Jacobson indicated that he was told by HR that only approve 52 of the 58 names on the
list that came out today could be approved because that’s the number of vacant entry-level
positions the Department has which he wasn’t aware of. He was apologetic.



B Commissioner Lawlor asked in the vetting process, let’s say two or three end up dropping
out or withdrawing or whatever, he wondered if the Commission has to take another vote to
switch in other people further down the list. He wondered how that would work.

B Chief Jacobson said they would request the Commission to approve the rest of the list when
they have those. When they do the promotions next month, that will open up the rest of those
positions.

B Chief Jacobson added that he interpreted that since the promotions were pending, it would
open those positions. However, HR corrected the staff. This has to be done the way HR
instructed it should be done.

B Commissioner Ribeiro added that this situation had not arisen previously. She and the chief
talked about it earlier. They can do up to 52 today. And at the next scheduled meeting, once
the promotions are done, then that will open up additional spots. Then additional conditional
offers could be approved at that meeting.

B Commissioner Meares stated that, just sum up, the Department has not been in a situation
like this before. She was looking at Commissioner Walker because the Department has always
been so far below capacity and then now the Department is finally there. So this is actually a
good sign as she understood it.

B Chief Jacobson concurred. The list over the last few years have contained 25 to 30 names.
They have had 70 openings. You know, now they have a list of 58 names. And, technically,
because those promotions have not occurred yet, the only open positions are 52 entry level.

B Commissioner Meares said, congratulations.

B Chief Jacobson said it was all good news.

*x Commissioner Meares motioned to approve 52 Conditional Offers of employment for
the position of Police Officer

ok Commissioner Brooks seconded

ok The motion passed unanimously

2. Consideration and vote on the recommendation from Chief Karl Jacobson to
terminate Officer Trevor Canace, Internal Affairs Investigation 241-035

3. Consideration and vote on the recommendation from Chief Karl Jacobson to
terminate Officer Trevor Canace, Internal Affairs Investigation 241-037

B Chief Jacobson indicated that Items 2 and 3 were for the termination related to two Internal
Affairs cases of Officer Candace. He had resigned earlier today officially. He had an
agreement with the Labor Department of the city. So no action is necessary regarding these
items.

B Commissioner Ribeiro asked Attorney Duprey if procedurally no action was necessary.

B Attorney Duprey responded by saying, that is correct. There is nothing to act on due to the
resignation.

B Commissioner Brooks indicated he was unsure if this was the appropriate time to have a
discussion or at a later point in time. He asked whether in light of this kind of case wherein an
officer decides to resign, is he or she available or able to apply in any other department in the
state.

B Chief Jacobson replied by saying, no.

B Commissioner Ribeiro asked Chief Jacobson to elaborate on that.



B With the Police Accountability bill, he will be restricted from being able to be a police
officer, clearly, in this state. However, he cannot foresee with the Internal Affairs documents
that are in his file now that anyone would hire him.

B Commissioner Lawlor indicated he was not aware of this until recently. There is a national
registry of officer who are in this status. So it doesn’t mean, let’s say, some county sheriff in
Florida couldn’t hire him. It just means they would know about it.

B Commissioner Lawlor further stated that this statute that states that if an officer resigns or
retires while there’s a pending Internal Affairs investigation, that the officer is statutorily
ineligible to be a police officer permanently in Connecticut. And that actually predates the
Police Accountability bill. So that’s been on the books for quite some time, but it’s being used
more frequently. It’s activated more frequently these days because of some resignations and
retirements, etc.

B Commissioner Brooks asked if he would inquire of Commissioner Lawlor for a little bit
more clarity. Commissioner Ribeiro said, yes.

B Commissioner Brooks asked about if the retirees or those that resign under the circumstances
here are automatically placed on this registry. He asked if the Board needed to do anything. He
asked how the process worked.

B Commissioner Lawlor responded by saying that the Police Officers Standards and Training
folks have a policy where they will communicate to the national registry people who are
ineligible to be police officers in Connecticut and the bases of that. It’s voluntary for each
state. Most states do it. It’s being utilized more frequently now because, obviously, there’s
liability that goes along hiring somebody with a track record like this. And so, presumably,
most municipalities and states around the country would prefer not to take on this kind of a risk.
B Commissioner Brook said he understood.

B Commissioner Meares followed up by saying that the liability piece is incredibly important.
She said Commissioner Brooks might be familiar with the Sonya Massey case, Springfield,
Illinois where she is from. And that person was not on that kind of registry even though after
the incident happened, people became aware of his past records. She did think that
increasingly, as Commissioner Lawlor mentioned, if you have an officer on the registry like
that and someone goes ahead and hires him or her, then they are putting themselves at great risk
of liability if something happens.

B Commissioner Brooks stated he understood.

EXCUTIVE SESSION

ADJOURNMENT

*x Commissioner Brooks motioned to Adjourn the Special Meeting
ok Commissioner Walker seconded

*x The motion passed unanimously

The next special meeting will be on July 1, 2025
The Board adjourned at 6:12 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,



Sotonye Otunba-Payne



	SPECIAL SESSION MINUTES
	JUNE 25, 2025
	BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
	Chief Karl Jacobson:  Department of Police Service
	Assistant Chief Bertram Ettienne:  Department of Police Service
	Sergeant Paul Finch:  Department of Police Service
	Asia Johnson-Clark:  Administrative Assistant
	OPEN SESSION
	The Special Session meeting of the Board of Police Commissioners was called to order at 6:03 p.m., Evelise Ribeiro, Chair, presided.
	AGENDA
	Approval of the Agenda for the Board of Police Commissioners
	** Commissioner Miranda moved to Approve the Agenda
	** Commissioner Walker seconded
	( Commissioner Brooks asked if there was a need to remove the agenda items regarding Officer Trevor Canace.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro indicated that it was necessary to do so.
	( Attorney Duprey indicated that the agenda could not be changed for a special meeting.
	** Motion passed unanimously
	1. Chief Karl Jacobson is requesting approval by the Board of Police Commissioners to send up to 64 Conditional Offers of employment for the position of Police Officer from the Eligibility List 22-68CR 06-25-2025
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that he was told by HR that only approve 52 of the 58 names on the list that came out today could be approved because that’s the number of vacant entry-level positions the Department has which he wasn’t aware of.  He was apo...
	( Commissioner Lawlor asked in the vetting process, let’s say two or three end up dropping out or withdrawing or whatever, he wondered if the Commission has to take another vote to switch in other people further down the list.  He wondered how that wo...
	( Chief Jacobson said they would request the Commission to approve the rest of the list when they have those.  When they do the promotions next month, that will open up the rest of those positions.
	( Chief Jacobson added that he interpreted that since the promotions were pending, it would open those positions.  However, HR corrected the staff.  This has to be done the way HR instructed it should be done.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro added that this situation had not arisen previously.  She and the chief talked about it earlier.  They can do up to 52 today.  And at the next scheduled meeting, once the promotions are done, then that will open up additional sp...
	( Commissioner Meares stated that, just sum up, the Department has not been in a situation like this before.  She was looking at Commissioner Walker because the Department has always been so far below capacity and then now the Department is finally th...
	( Chief Jacobson concurred.  The list over the last few years have contained 25 to 30 names.  They have had 70 openings.  You know, now they have a list of 58 names.  And, technically, because those promotions have not occurred yet, the only open posi...
	( Commissioner Meares said, congratulations.
	( Chief Jacobson said it was all good news.
	2. Consideration and vote on the recommendation from Chief Karl Jacobson to
	terminate Officer Trevor Canace, Internal Affairs Investigation 241-035
	3. Consideration and vote on the recommendation from Chief Karl Jacobson to terminate Officer Trevor Canace, Internal Affairs Investigation 241-037
	( Chief Jacobson indicated that Items 2 and 3 were for the termination related to two Internal Affairs cases of Officer Candace.  He had resigned earlier today officially.  He had an agreement with the Labor Department of the city.  So no action is ne...
	( Commissioner Ribeiro asked Attorney Duprey if procedurally no action was necessary.
	( Attorney Duprey responded by saying, that is correct.  There is nothing to act on due to the resignation.
	( Commissioner Brooks indicated he was unsure if this was the appropriate time to have a discussion or at a later point in time.  He asked whether in light of this kind of case wherein an officer decides to resign, is he or she available or able to ap...
	( Chief Jacobson replied by saying, no.
	( Commissioner Ribeiro asked Chief Jacobson to elaborate on that.
	( With the Police Accountability bill, he will be restricted from being able to be a police officer, clearly, in this state.  However, he cannot foresee with the Internal Affairs documents that are in his file now that anyone would hire him.
	( Commissioner Lawlor indicated he was not aware of this until recently.  There is a national registry of officer who are in this status.  So it doesn’t mean, let’s say, some county sheriff in Florida couldn’t hire him.  It just means they would know ...
	( Commissioner Lawlor further stated that this statute that states that if an officer resigns or retires while there’s a pending Internal Affairs investigation, that the officer is statutorily ineligible to be a police officer permanently in Connectic...
	( Commissioner Brooks asked if he would inquire of Commissioner Lawlor for a little bit more clarity.  Commissioner Ribeiro said, yes.
	( Commissioner Brooks asked about if the retirees or those that resign under the circumstances here are automatically placed on this registry.  He asked if the Board needed to do anything.  He asked how the process worked.
	( Commissioner Lawlor responded by saying that the Police Officers Standards and Training folks have a policy where they will communicate to the national registry people who are ineligible to be police officers in Connecticut and the bases of that.  I...
	( Commissioner Brook said he understood.
	( Commissioner Meares followed up by saying that the liability piece is incredibly important.  She said Commissioner Brooks might be familiar with the Sonya Massey case, Springfield, Illinois where she is from.  And that person was not on that kind of...
	( Commissioner Brooks stated he understood.

